1979

State of Utah v. Eugene Andreini : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the District Court of Carbon County, State of Utah, with the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge, presiding as a substitute for the Honorable Boyd Bunnell, Judge, who disqualified himself.

The appellant was charged with aggravated assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(b), and the appellant was convicted of simple assault, a Class B Misdemeanor, in violation of Section 76-5-102, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks to have his conviction reversed or in the alternative remanded for a new trial after he has

had the right to take the depositions he was denied before the trial from which this appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 10th day of June, 1978, at the Savoy Club, a bar in Price, Carbon County, Utah, there was a fight between the appellant and James R. Priano. (Tr. 148.)

The respondent contends that while Priano was talking to another, the appellant struck Priano with a pool stick. (Tr. 13.)

The appellant contends he struck Priano in self-defense (Tr. 146) only after Priano had struck the first blow by giving a backhand to the appellant's head which knocked off his prescriptive glasses. (Tr. 180.)

Other than the appellant and Priano, there were only two eye witnesses who saw the fight begin. Both of them testified that before the appellant had done anything physical toward him, Priano struck the first blow in the same manner as contended by the appellant. (Tr. 150, 161, 162.)

In addition to wearing prescriptive glasses, the appellant also suffered from a back injury he received when 13 years old by having been run over by a truck. (Tr. 178.)

After being struck by Priano, the appellant went down to the floor and came up with a pool stick from an area where broken pool sticks were customarily kept. (Tr. 151.)

The pool stick was in the appellant's left hand. And the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

appellant is right handed. (Tr. 180.)

There was fighting, wrestling, and scuffling between the appellant and Priano. (Tr. 13, 17, 37, 38, 45, 76, 77, 78, 80, 148, 150, 158, 161, 162, 173, 180, 181, 184, 185.) And others separated them. (Tr. 15, 17, 64, 65, 70, 71, 76, 78, 79, 80, 81, 151, 162, 173.) All of it lasted only about 30 seconds. (Tr. 17.) It was a very short time. It was over just like that, really. (Tr. 151.)

Even after the two had been separated, Priano walked toward the appellant (Tr. 17, 45, 181), gritting his teeth and holding his arms like he was going toward the appellant again. (Tr. 181.) He turned and left the scene only after being threatened by the appellant. (Tr. 181.)

The above constitutes a general statement of the appellant's version of the facts. Other details will be cited in support of the points of argument.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING
APPELLANT'S MOTION TO TAKE DEPOSITIONS
BEFORE TRIAL.

The appellant filed a motion to take depositions before the lower court with the purpose of obtaining additional information from witnesses and using said information for its impeachment value on cross-examination. The lower court

denied appellant's motion.

In the case of State v. Guerts, 11 Utah 2d 345, 359 P.2d 12 (1961), the Utah Supreme Court unanimously held in an opinion written by then-Justice Crockett that it was error for the accused to be denied the right to take depositions before trial. At page 16 he stated:

D. The most serious attack upon the judgment is that the court erred in rejecting defendant's request to take depositions of the witnesses. We willingly concede that it is difficult to understand why the district attorney opposed the taking of depositions. He may have misconceived his duty. Notwithstanding the fact that under our adversary system it is essential that he represent and safeguard the interests of the State, it is neither necessary nor desirable that a prosecutor conduct either a persecution or an inquisition. His responsibility is to assist in an inquiry into the facts to ascertain the truth to the end that justice be done. While we do not deem it to be grounds for reversal here, for reasons explained below, we are not favorably impressed with the failure to permit the taking of depositions of the witnesses.

Four justices held such error not be be prejudicial because the defendant in that case failed to claim that he would have obtained any additional information from the depositions and because he had failed to assert the depositions' value for purposes of cross-examination at trial.

The fifth justice, then-Justice Henriod, dissented, believing it was prejudicial error to deny the accused the right or privilege of taking depositions, and stated:

The main opinion points out correctly that the accused had access to information obtained by the Grand Jury, (citations omitted) and was furnished answers by the district attorney to interrogations put to him. But it loses sight of the fact that such information was not the product of sworn testimony elicited by questions put by counsel of the accused's choice. It seems to lose sight also, of the fact that . . . the right to take depositions frequently [is] the sharpest weapon available to counsel in piercing subsequent testimony by confrontation with prior inconsistent testimony. Such an opportunity, denial of which appellant assigned as error, quite frequently results in impeachment that may make the difference between guilt or innocence in the minds of veniremen. At 359 P.2d 18. (Emphasis added.)

In concurrence with Justice Crockett's proposal of proper prosecutorial procedure, it is submitted that the vestiges of sporting event surprise trials of the past should now yield to the modern due process fairness model in search of truth and justice.

Later, the Utah Supreme Court, in its opinion written by then-Justice Tuckett in the case of State v. Nielsen,

522 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1974), surprisingly ruled, without reference to its unanimous decision to the contrary in Guerts, supra, that it was not error for an accused charged by complaint to be denied the right to take depositions before trial, except when a material witness for the defendant is about to leave the state or is so ill or infirm as to afford reasonable grounds for apprehension that he will be unable to attend the trial. Then-Justice Ellett and Justice Crockett dissented in the Nielsen case, with the controversy centering around Rule 81(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (URCP).

That rule provides:

Application in criminal proceedings.
These rules of procedure shall also
govern in any aspect of criminal
proceedings when there is no other applicable statute or rule, provided, that any rule so applied does not conflict with any statutory or constitutional requirement. (Emphasis added.)

In Nielsen the defendant argued, and the appellant in the instant appeal now argues, that Rule 30 (URCP), which provides that "any party may take the testimony of any person . . . by deposition upon oral examination" is applicable through Rule 81(e) to criminal proceedings.

The majority in Nielsen, no longer sitting on the Utah Supreme Court, found Rule 30 (URCP) to be in conflict with Utah Code Ann. §§ 77-46-1 and 2. Justice Crockett in his dissent

persuasively pointed out that in fact no conflict exists as §§ 77-46-1 and 2 do not cover the taking of depositions. Justice Crockett concluded:

Allowing depositions in this and other criminal proceedings would be consistent with the spirit of Rule 81(e); with the national trend, and would correlate our criminal procedures with our new Criminal Code's policy against arbitrary or oppressive treatment of accused persons. At p. 1369. (Emphasis added.)

Additionally, the majority in Nielsen was concerned with the possibility that the prosecution would attempt to take the deposition of a defendant and thus violate his right against self-incrimination. Again, Justice Crockett pointed out that the majority's concern was not warranted: "No one supposes that any procedural rule could deprive a person of his constitutional rights; and Rule 81(e) clearly so indicates." At p. 1369. (Emphasis added.)

In sum, the appellant argues that this court should adopt now-Chief Justice Crockett's dissenting opinion and overrule the Nielsen case.

In Granato v. Salt Lake County Grand Jury, 557 P.2d 750 (Utah 1976), the majority never reached the issue of depositions being taken by the defendant. In Justice Maughan's dissent at p. 755:

*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

Plaintiff finally urges he should be permitted to take depositions, and that State v. Nielsen, Utah, 522 P.2d 1366 (1974) should be overruled. With this contention, I am in complete agreement. A defendant in a criminal action should be permitted to take depositions; . . .

He then writes Justice Henriod's dissent in Guerts quoted above in appellant's brief.

The time is long past due to correct this inequality of justice in Utah between the right of a defendant in a civil case, the right of state in a criminal case and the denial of a defendant in a criminal case to take depositions for the same purposes. If the right to take depositions is afforded a defendant in civil cases, where he stands to lose only his dollars and cents, surely that same right should be afforded a defendant in a criminal case, where he stands to lose his life or liberty.

This court should reverse the lower court's order denying the appellant's motion to take depositions and remand this matter to the lower court with the order that the appellant be granted the right to take depositions for discovery, cross-examination, impeachment, confrontation, or any other purpose afforded a party in a civil case.

Such a ruling would be consistent with the mandates of the due process and equal protection clauses of the United States Constitution and Utah Constitution, and of the

confrontation of witnesses guarantee of Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution.

This case on appeal particularly points out the discriminatory denial of equal protection to the defense to take depositions while allowing the prosecution that power, which it exercised September 11, 1978, before preliminary hearing and trial. (Tr. 148, 156, 163, 168, 171.)

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-45-20, the State has powers to depose witnesses in the investigation of crime, even secretly, if necessary. To deny the defense that right of investigation technique for preparation of his defense is a denial of equal protection. There is no policy reason to justify perpetration of this inequality. The accused is presumed innocent until convicted, and he should be afforded the same rights as the government in preparation of his case.

Even the new rules of criminal evidence provide for both parties to take depositions.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING
APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION BY
PROPER CROSS-EXAMINATION.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The Utah Constitution has a similar provision

found in Article I, Section 12.

The United States Supreme Court has held the Sixth Amendment's right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him is a fundamental right binding upon the states through the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965).

"The right of confrontation embraces the right of cross-examination." Chester J. Antieau, Modern Constitutional Law, Sec. 5:74, Vol. One, 1969, The Lawyers Cooperative Publishing Company.

Wigmore, in his treatise on evidence, calls cross-examination "the greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of truth." V Wigmore on Evidence § 1367 (3rd ed.).

It is submitted that for the above reasons careful, strict scrutiny should be given to the restrictive rulings during appellant's cross-examination of the victim. The rulings prohibited examination designed to bring out the truth of the event. This limitation upon the fact-finding process is patent error. Broad scope should be afforded to the cross-examiner to elicit the full facts of the occurrence. This was denied and an injustice resulted.

This court is invited to read the transcript with strict scrutiny at pages 28, 29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 39, 40, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 49, 50, 71, 96, 127, 132, 133, 139, 140, 142, 143, 144, 145, 198, 199.)

As examples, the appellant was not permitted to have Priano give his lay opinion relative to common matters such as comparing types of scratches he received then and at other times. (Tr. 33, 34.)

The appellant was not permitted to show possibilities relative to self-defense other than as testified to by Priano. (Tr. 39.)

The appellant was not permitted to show through Priano that other witnesses disagreed with him relative to who struck the first blow. (Tr. 40.)

The appellant was not permitted to show through Priano that at no time did the appellant poke Priano in the forehead with the pool stick. (Tr. 43.)

The appellant was not permitted to show through Priano that the event could have happened other than as Priano testified on direct examination. (Tr. 44.)

The appellant was not permitted to show through Priano what was said and done between Priano and the appellant's wife at a prior time at the Hollow Bottle relative to the appellant's state of mind. (Tr. 44, 45, 46, 49, 50, 67, 68, 71, 144, 145.) It was not hearsay because it was not offered for the truth of matter asserted. It was offered only to show the appellant's state of mind. (Tr. 145.)

The appellant was not permitted to show through Priano that his injuries could have been caused by means other

than the pool stick, such as wrestling, scuffling, and bumping into other objects. The appellant state there was evidence of wrestling and scuffling. The court ruled there had not been such evidence (Tr. 127), when in fact there had been such evidence. (Tr. 15, 17, 37, 38, 44, 64, 65, 66, 70, 71, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 150, 151, 158, 161, 162, 173, 180, 181, 184, 185.)

The appellant was not permitted to show bias by close relationship between witnesses relative to credibility. (Tr. 198, 199.)

Although perhaps any one of these erroneous rulings would not have amounted to prejudicial error, cumulatively they reached that level and denied the appellant effective cross-examination to insure his right to confrontation.

In Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965), it was held that the Sixth Amendment's right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him was a fundamental right, essential to a fair trial, and was made obligatory on the states by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment; and that the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment was thus enforceable against the states under the Fourteenth Amendment according to the same standards which protect the right to confrontation against federal encroachment.

To the same effect are: Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 85 S. Ct. 1074, 13 L. Ed. 2d 934 (1965); Brookhart v.

Janis, 384 U.S. 1, 86 S. Ct. 1245, 16 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1966); Parker v. Gladden, 385 U.S. 363, 87 S. Ct. 468, 17 L. Ed. 2d 420 (1966); Re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 87 S. Ct. 1428, 18 L. Ed. 2d 527 (1967); Burgett v. Texas, 389 U.S. 109, 88 S. Ct. 258, 19 L. Ed. 2d 319 (1967); Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S. Ct. 748, 19 L. Ed. 2d 956 (1968); Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 88 S. Ct. 1318, 20 L. Ed. 2d 255 (1968); Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 88 S. Ct. 1444 reh. denied 392 U.S. 947, 88 S. Ct. 2270, 20 L. Ed. 2d 1412 (1968); Berger v. California, 393 U.S. 314, 89 S. Ct. 540, 21 L. Ed. 2d 508; Frazier v. Cupp, 394 U.S. 731, 89 S. Ct. 1420, 22 L. Ed. 2d 684; Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969); Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 89 S. Ct. 1726, 23 L. Ed. 2d 284 (1969).

A primary purpose of the confrontation clause is to secure the right of cross-examination. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965); Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 85 S. Ct. 1074, 13 L. Ed. 2d 934 (1965); Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S. Ct. 748, 19 L. Ed. 2d 956 (1968); Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 88 S. Ct. 1318, 20 L. Ed. 2d 255 (1968).

The Supreme Court has established that under certain circumstances the restriction of the scope of a defense attorney's cross-examination of a particular prosecution witness may constitute a violation of an accused's constitutional

right of confrontation. Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S. Ct. 748, 19 L. Ed. 2d 956 (1968).

In this case, the restricted cross-examination was of the State's principal witness. A thorough searching, sifting of his recollection of the event, his credibility, his motive, prejudices, and his inclinations were thwarted by the cumulative effect of the trial court sustaining the State's objections. The cross-examination, as a reading of the transcript shows, was not by design argumentative but rather to impeach the witness. The right to impeach a witness by cross-examination is universally recognized. Am. Jur. Witnesses § 676.

CONCLUSION

The time is ripe for reversing the sporting event surprise tactics of the Nielsen case, supra.

A criminal trial should be a search for the truth. Defense depositions taken before trial can aid that endeavor by preserving recitations of fact as in civil trials. Allowing defense depositions enhances the defendant's right to confrontation, preservation of testimony, and the impeachment of witnesses.

The inequities of this case wherein the government takes depositions without the presence of the defense and the defense is denied that opportunity patently discriminates