1980

State of Utah v. Eugene Andreini : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant was charged with aggravated assault in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103(b) (1953 as amended). He was convicted on April 25, 1979, of simple assault in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-102 (1953) as amended. This is an appeal of that conviction.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was tried and convicted by a jury in the District Court of Carbon County, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge, presiding.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Respondent seeks an affirmance of the conviction in the court below.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 10, 1978, James R. Priano entered the Savory Club in Price, Utah to speak with Billy Crissman about donations for a school reunion. While the two men talked, the appellant entered the room, went behind the bar and then began beating Priano over the head and back with a pool stick. (R. 13-14) Priano fell onto the bar and the appellant grabbed Priano by the hair and poked him in the forehead with the cue. (R. 15) Priano tried to get the pool stick out of the Appellant's hands and two men finally separated the Appellant and Priano. (R. 66) After being separated the Appellant stated that if Priano ever said anything to his wife again, he would kill Priano. Priano came toward the Appellant; the Appellant threatened to put out Priano's good eye if he came any closer. (R. 15) Priano then left the tavern and was later convinced by friends to contact the police about the incident.

Appellant approached Priano in the Savory Club because of a prior incident. That incident had occurred approximately six months earlier in a tavern called the Ho Bottle. At that time Priano had talked with the Appellant wife about the time, one year earlier to the day, that the appellant had killed a man "over his wife." (R. 15, 16).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS NOT
ALLOWED TO TAKE DEPOSITIONS IS
WITHOUT MERIT.

A

THE CLAIM IS NOT SUPPORTED
BY THE RECORD.

Appellant's brief at pages 13 and 14, states that a motion to take depositions was filed with and denied by the lower court. No such motion has been placed in the record on appeal; no order denying the alleged motion appears in the record. There have been no supplemental materials included in the record on appeal that relate to a motion to take depositions. The only request for material from the prosecutor was a motion for exculpatory evidence. (P. 15) The prosecution complied with this request (R. 16).

The appellant has failed to include in the record all documents necessary to arrive at full consideration of the question presented for review. This Court has held that it will not consider facts not properly supported by the record. Hokerman v. Lincoln National Life Ins. Co., 588 P.2d 142 (Utah 1978); Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 75(p)(2) states that an appellant's brief must contain "a concise statement of the material facts of the case citing the pages of the record supporting such statement." Appellant has

failed to comply with this rule since the allegation that a motion for depositions was filed with and denied by the court cannot be substantiated by the record. Respondent contends that this rule requiring substantiation by the record is applicable to a criminal case. Rule 81(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

These Rules of procedure shall also govern in any aspect of criminal proceedings where there is no other applicable statute or rule, provided, that any rule so applied does not conflict with any statutory or constitutional requirement.

There is no criminal procedure rule specifically dealing with briefs on appeal or the need for substantiation of material facts by the record. Respondent, therefore, submits that Uckerman and Rule 81(e)(2) apply to this case. Appellant's argument that he was not allowed to take depositions should not be considered by this Court.

Furthermore, the accuracy of Appellant's content cannot be assumed. As far as trial counsel is concerned no request, written or oral, was made to take depositions; and as far as this Court is concerned, based on the record and the rules governing appeals, there was no request made or decision rendered on the motion. Therefore, Appellant's claim that he was not allowed to take depositions should not be considered since the allegation is unsubstantiated.

and not properly before this Court.

B

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED
TO SHOW THAT DEPOSITIONS
WERE NECESSARY OR THAT THE
ALLEGED DENIAL WAS PREJUDICIAL.

The appellant contends that a motion to take depositions was made and denied and that those depositions would have been used to cross-examine witnesses at trial. However, the appellant fails to allege facts indicating why the depositions were needed. There is no showing that additional information would be revealed or that the witness could not be present at trial. Nor is there any allegation that the witness was a material witness.

In State v. Nielsen, 522 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1974) this Court held that it was not error to deny the taking of depositions except when a material witness was about to leave the state or was so ill or infirm that he was unable to attend the trial. The Court explained that Utah Code Ann. § 77-46-1 and § 77-46-2 (1953) limited the right to take depositions in criminal cases and unless the conditions set forth in those statutes were met, no deposition could be taken. Those provisions read as follows:

77-46-1. On behalf of defendant charged with offense or malfeasance in office—
Of witnesses within state.—When a
defendant has been held to answer a

charge for a public offense or malfeasance in office he may, either before or after an indictment or information, have witnesses examined conditionally on his behalf as prescribed in this chapter, and not otherwise. (Emphasis added).

77-46-2. Application for examination.—When a material witness for the defendant is about to leave the state, or is so ill or infirm as to afford reasonable grounds for apprehending that he will be unable to attend the trial, the defendant may apply for an order that the witness be examined conditionally.

This court's analysis of these statutes in State Nielsen is similar to that used by other courts. Depositions in criminal cases were unknown at common law. For this reason the authority to permit the taking of depositions in criminal cases is derived from statutory law. See State v. Berry, 520 P.2d 558 (N.M. 1974); Williams v. State, 19 Md. 582, 313 A.2d 750 (1974); Blanchard v. State, 21 Okl.Cr. 207 P.96 (1893). "Depositions in criminal cases cannot be taken in behalf of a defendant except by authority of state Baker v. People, 72 Colo. 68, 209 P. 791, 794 (1922)

In Parmenter v. State of Oklahoma, 377 P.2d 842 (Okla. 1963) the court interpreted a statute . . . almost identical to Utah Code Ann. § 77-46-1. The court explained that the statute fixed the only time when depositions could be taken in criminal cases and that if those conditions were not met, depositions "shall not be taken otherwise." Id. at 844.

The Appellant argues that Rule 81(e) of the Rules of Civil Procedure gives the defendant in a criminal case the right to depose any person. Rule 81(e) states:

Application in Criminal Proceedings.
These Rules of procedure shall also govern in any aspect of criminal proceedings where there is no other applicable statute or rule, provided, that any rule so applied does not conflict with any statutory or constitutional requirement. (Emphasis added).

Utah Code Ann. § 77-46-1 and § 77-46-2 clearly refers to the taking of depositions in behalf of a defendant in a criminal case. Since those provisions conflict with the broader authorization in Rule 81(e), that rule cannot allow the defendant in a criminal case to depose "any person" without restriction. The language of Rule 81(e) limits its applicability because there is [an] "other applicable statute or rule."

A defendant, therefore, does not have an inherent unqualified right to take depositions in a criminal case. See People v. Bowen, 99 Cal. Rptr. 498 (1971). The imposition of certain conditions upon the ability to take deposition is in accord with the position taken in many states. For example, in Texas the right to take depositions is available if "good reason" is shown. Martin v. State, 422 S.W.2d 731 (Texas 1967). That court did not allude to what would be a "good reason" but the case illustrates that the defendant must at least give some reason why depositions are needed. In Colorado,

depositions may be taken in criminal cases where there is some reason to believe that the witness may not be available at the trial. Kelly v. People, 121 Colo. 243, 215 P.2d 336 343 (1950). There is no indication that the witness here could not be present at trial.

The decision reached in State v. Nielsen is sensible. A defendant is allowed to take depositions when the witness would not be available for examination at trial. When the facts do not indicate that the witness would be unavailable, depositions are not necessary and their implementation might only cause delay. In this case, the appellant has not shown that the facts and circumstances of the case necessitated the taking of depositions. The appellant alludes to the case of State v. Guerts, 11 Utah 2d 345, 359 P.2d 12 (1961) which did not qualify a defendant's right to depositions, however, that case is limited by the more recent decision of State v. Nielsen in 1974. Furthermore, the facts found by the Court in Guerts, distinguish that case from the situation here. In Guerts, this Court was concerned by the prosecutor's conduct in automatically rejecting the defendant's request to take depositions. Here, there is no evidence of similar prosecutorial misconduct and, in any event, the court in Guerts found that the refusal did not justify reversal.

Respondent likewise contends that even if the mo

to take depositions were denied and such denial was error, the appellant has not shown that he was prejudiced thereby. The record does not show that depositions were necessary, that the witness was "ill or infirm" or that he could not be present at trial.

POINT II

APPELLANT'S RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION HAS NOT BEEN DENIED SINCE CROSS- EXAMINATION WAS PROPERLY LIMITED.

Appellant contends that his right of confrontation was violated because cross-examination of the victim, Briano, was restricted. It is a well-settled principle of law that the extent of cross-examination is a matter which lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Anderson, 27 Utah 2d 276, 495 P.2d 804 (1972). This discretion will not be interfered with by the Supreme Court unless there is an abuse of discretion to the prejudice of the defendant. State v. Belwood, 27 Utah 2d 214, 494 P.2d 519 (1972).

In each incidence at trial where Appellant claims that cross-examination was unduly restricted (See Appellant's Brief at 11), the trial court properly disallowed irrelevant or argumentative lines of questioning. An examiner may not ask irrelevant questions or questions which call for no new fact but merely invoke the witness's assent to the examiner's inferences from or interpretations of the facts proved or

assumed. McCormick on Evidence, § 7 at 12 (1954). Further the trial court was concerned with the dialogue on page 15 the transcript not because it may have been hearsay but because it was irrelevant and argumentative.

This Court has consistently held that, even in criminal cases, the field of cross-examination is largely within the discretion of the trial court where ruling will not be disturbed except in cases of clear abuse of discretion. State v. McIntyre, 92 Utah 177, 66 P.2d 879, 888 (1937).

[R]eviewing courts ought to be very careful, and should hesitate long before reversing judgments upon the ground that the trial court either restricted or enlarged the scope of cross-examination.

State v. Murphy, 72 Utah 382, 68 P.2d 188, 193 (1937).

This court has continued to uphold the trial court's discretionary powers with regard to cross-examination. State v. Starks, 564 P.2d 1015 (Utah 1978); State v. Maestas, 564 P.2d 1386 (Utah 1977); State v. Curtis, 542 P.2d 744 (Utah 1975); State v. Anderson, 27 Utah 2d 276, 495 P.2d 804 (1970). In State v. Maestas this Court stated that even should the trial court err in unduly limiting cross-examination, such would not be reversible error without a showing of prejudice. 564 P.2d 1388, 1389. It should be noted that the Appellant, though he cites several cases establishing the right of confrontation has failed to cite any case which would allow irrelevant &

argumentative questioning in order to preserve a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. The Appellant was not prejudiced by the court's rulings; counsel was allowed to rephrase his questions and should have introduced additional evidence rather than commenting on matters not in evidence (R. 40,127).

The trial court, therefore, correctly sustained certain objections since counsel's form of questioning was improper. The Court did not abuse its discretionary powers.

CONCLUSION

Appellant's allegation that he requested to take depositions and that such request was denied is an unsubstantiated claim. The record does not support the existence of any request, motion and/or denial of a motion. Furthermore, the Appellant has not shown why the alleged depositions were needed or that the failure to take them prejudiced his case. Therefore, Appellant's contention that his request to take depositions was improperly denied is without merit. It is not properly before this Court and should not be considered.

The trial court correctly refused to allow Appellant's counsel to argue the case through improper cross-examination of an adverse witness. The trial court did not abuse its discretionary powers since irrelevant and argumentative forms of questioning are not protected by the right of confrontation.

For the above stated reasons, Respondent urges

this Court to affirm the conviction rendered in the court
below.